<TY °F

>

c
2
g

BERKELEY CITY COUNCIL LAND USE, HOUSING, & ECONOMIC
DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

REGULAR MEETING

Thursday, May 6, 2021
10:30 AM

Committee Members:

Councilmembers Sophie Hahn, Rigel Robinson, and Lori Droste
Alternate: Councilmember Ben Bartlett

PUBLIC ADVISORY: THIS MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED EXCLUSIVELY THROUGH
VIDEOCONFERENCE AND TELECONFERENCE

Pursuant to Section 3 of Executive Order N-29-20, issued by Governor Newsom on March 17,
2020, this meeting of the City Council Land Use, Housing, & Economic Development Committee
will be conducted exclusively through teleconference and Zoom videoconference. Please be
advised that pursuant to the Executive Order, and to ensure the health and safety of the public
by limiting human contact that could spread the COVID-19 virus, there will not be a physical
meeting location available.

To access the meeting remotely using the internet: Join from a PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone, or
Android device: Use https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86006545447. If you do not wish for your name
to appear on the screen, then use the drop-down menu and click on "rename" to rename
yourself to be anonymous. To request to speak, use the “raise hand” icon on the screen.

To join by phone: Dial 1-669-900-9128 or 1-877-853-5257 (Toll Free) and Enter Meeting ID:
860 0654 5447. If you wish to comment during the public comment portion of the agenda, press
*9 and wait to be recognized by the Chair.

Written communications submitted by mail or e-mail to the Land Use, Housing, & Economic
Development Committee by 5:00 p.m. the Friday before the Committee meeting will be
distributed to the members of the Committee in advance of the meeting and retained as part of
the official record. City offices are currently closed and cannot accept written communications
in person.

Thursday, May 6, 2021 AGENDA Page 1


https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86006545447

AGENDA

Roll Call

Public Comment on Non-Agenda Matters

Minutes for Approval

Draft minutes for the Committee's consideration and approval.

1. Minutes - March 18, 2021 and April 26, 2021

Committee Action Iltems

The public may comment on each item listed on the agenda for action as the item is taken up. The Chair
will determine the number of persons interested in speaking on each item. Up fo ten (10) speakers may
speak for two minutes. If there are more than ten persons interested in speaking, the Chair may limit the
public comment for all speakers to one minute per speaker. Speakers are permitted to yield their time to
one other speaker, however no one speaker shall have more than four minutes.

Following review and discussion of the items listed below, the Committee may continue an item to a future
committee meeting, or refer the item to the City Council.

2. Disposition of Existing Agenda Items Pursuant to Appendix D of the City
Council Rules of Procedure and Order Related to Temporary Rules for Policy

Committees
From: City Clerk
Contact: Mark Numainville, City Clerk, (510) 981-6900

3. Small Business Listening Session

Thursday, May 6, 2021 AGENDA Page 2



Committee Action ltems

Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Act, Adding BMC Chapter 13.89

From: Mayor Arreguin (Author) (Item contains revised material.)

Referred: February 24, 2020

Due: May 20, 2021

Recommendation:

1. Adopt a first reading of an ordinance adding Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter
13.89, the Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Act (TOPA), that will take effect on final
adoption with an implementation start upon completion of Administrative Regulations
and funding of related program costs; and

2. Direct the City Manager to take all necessary steps to implement this chapter
including, but not limited to:

1. Developing Administrative Regulations;

2. Preparing an implementation strategy;

3. ldentifying resources to align databases from Finance, Planning, and the Rent
Board to accurately reflect the properties that would be subject to TOPA,;

4. Determining necessary staffing for program administration and hearing officers for
adjudication;

5. Timelines for project “roll-out”;

6. Determining appropriate amount of funding needed to support the acquisition of
TOPA properties and recommending possible funding sources;

7. Quantifying an annual program budget and referring such program costs to the
June 2020 Budget process.

Financial Implications: See report

Contact: Jesse Arreguin, Mayor, (510) 981-7100

Thursday, May 6, 2021 AGENDA Page 3



Unscheduled ltems

These items are not scheduled for discussion or action at this meeting. The Committee may schedule
these items to the Action Calendar of a future Committee meeting. Pursuant to Appendix D of the City
Council Rules of Procedure and Order related to Temporary Rules for Policy Committees, the deadline to
take action on some items on the Unscheduled list may be postponed.

Resolution Recognizing Housing as Human Right; Referring City Manager to
Study Financial Feasibility of Municipal Housing Development Pilot Program
with Cooperative, Nonprofit, and Public Ownership Models, Administered as
Automatic Stabilizers to Guarantee Adequate Housing (/ftem contains revised
material.)

From: Councilmember Taplin (Author), Mayor Arreguin (Co-Sponsor),
Councilmember Harrison (co-sponsor), Councilmember Hahn (Co-Sponsor)
Referred: February 8, 2021

Due: June 29, 2021

Recommendation: Refer the City Manager’s office to study the financial feasibility of
a municipal housing development pilot program administering automatic stabilizers to
guarantee adequate housing security in Berkeley, with regular community input and
periodic monitoring of socioeconomic indicators. Pilot program feasibility study shall
include, but not be limited to:

1. Feasibility study of public lands suitable mixed-income transit-oriented housing
development identified in 2017 Analysis of City-Owned Lands and zoning changes
needed for affordable housing at listed sites to address all income categories in
upcoming Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA) cycle;

2. Pilot program to establish a Reparative Justice Revolving Loan Fund with
affirmative racial justice and anti-displacement goals, providing low-interest loans for
tenants, nonprofits, limited-equity co-operatives, and community land trusts to
acquire, develop, and/or maintain permanently affordable housing.

3. Pilot program to establish publicly available, user-friendly data dashboard
monitoring Housing Justice Indicators in the city including, but not limited to, (a)
health and safety standards, (b) affordability, (c) stability, and (d) discrimination and
disparate impacts under US Department of Housing and Urban Development’s
Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing (AFFH) rule; aligning Indicators with thresholds
for corrective actions including land-use policy review and fiscal analysis.

4. State and regional partnerships with the California Department of Housing and
Community Development, the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) and
Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG), UC Berkeley, and Bay Area Rapid
Transit to develop fiscally resilient mixed-income housing and community
reinvestment through land held in public trust and/or limited-equity cooperatives and
community land trusts.

Financial Implications: See report

Contact: Terry Taplin, Councilmember, District 2, (510) 981-7120

Thursday, May 6, 2021 AGENDA Page 4



Unscheduled ltems

Affordable Housing Overlay (ltem contains revised material)

From: Councilmember Taplin (Author), Councilmember Bartlett (Co-Sponsor),
Councilmember Robinson (Co-Sponsor)

Referred: February 22, 2021

Due: July 12, 2021

Recommendation: Refer to the City Manager and Planning Commission revisions
to the zoning code and General Plan, permitting increased height and density for
100% affordable housing developments, including but not limited to:

1. Exceeding standards set forth in California Government Code Section 65915 with
additional height and density incentives for qualifying 100% affordable projects deed-
restricted for low- and moderate-income households, including:

a. An additional 33’ local density bonus for qualifying projects with low- and
moderate-income units deed-restricted for households earning up to 100% of Area
Median Income, aiming to maximize total unit count restricted for Very Low and
Extremely Low Income households;

b. Expanding waiver of density limits, including units per acre and floor area ratio, for
transit-adjacent projects to include all parcels within one half mile of a commuter rail
station, and within 1/4 mile of an AC Transit bus route with 7-day service in Fiscal
Year 2019;

c. Reduced density limits for projects outside of transit proximity threshold with
additional Transportation Demand Management (TDM) policies, including bike
parking, paratransit and shared micro-mobility systems;

d. Ministerial approval of all qualifying projects meeting objective design criteria and
union labor requirements;

e. Exempting parcels with Designated Historic Landmarks and maintaining
demolition restrictions consistent with state law.

2. Ministerial approval for a baseline of 76’ for 100% affordable residential dwelling
units in all commercial zones, and provisions for ground-floor retail and/or live-work
space;

3. In R-1, R-1A and R-2 zones, provide ministerial approval for a 10’ local density
bonus for 100% affordable housing, with waived density requirements for dwelling
units per acre and lot coverage. On parcels within high-risk wildfire zones as
determined by the California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CalFire),
ministerial approval for 100% affordable projects should be contingent on fire-
blocking design and defensible space standards certified by the Planning
Department.

Council directs the Planning Commission and staff to codify an Affordable Housing
Overlay for 100% affordable housing as specified above in 2021-2022 work plans in
anticipation of 2023-2031 RHNA targets. Staff and the commission should build upon
the framework established in Government Code Section 65915 as well as municipal
implementations of Affordable Housing Overlays in other states, such as Cambridge
and Somerville, MA.

Financial Implications: See report

Contact: Terry Taplin, Councilmember, District 2, (510) 981-7120

Thursday, May 6, 2021 AGENDA Page 5



Unscheduled ltems

Amendments to Berkeley Municipal Code 23C.22: Short Term Rentals

From: Councilmember Harrison (Author)

Referred: July 28, 2020

Due: September 30, 2021

Recommendation: Amend Berkeley Municipal Code 23C.22: Short Term Rentals to
clarify the ordinance and insure adequate host responsibilities, tenant protections
and remedies for violating the ordinance.

Financial Implications: See report

Contact: Kate Harrison, Councilmember, District 4, (510) 981-7140

Thursday, May 6, 2021 AGENDA Page 6



Unscheduled ltems

Referral to the City Manager to Streamline Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU)
Permit Review and Approval

From: Councilmember Kesarwani (Author), Councilmember Wengraf (Co-
Sponsor), Councilmember Droste (Co-Sponsor), and Councilmember Bartlett
(Co-Sponsor)

Referred: April 26, 2021

(Item placed on “Inactive” status by the Agenda & Rules Committee pursuant
to Appendix D of the Rules of Procedure)

Due: February 14, 2022

Recommendation:

1. Refer to the City Manager to streamline the Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU)
permitting process in order to reduce staff time spent on review and enhance
customer service. Further, assess effectiveness of process improvements specified
below by reviewing over time: the number of ADUs permitted, average amount of
staff time spent on ADU permit review, and permit fee levels.

2. Recommend that the City Manager develop for Planning staff use an ADU
Universal Checklist and accompanying user-friendly webpage: a. ADU Universal
Checklist. A clear set of universal guidelines and construction requirements should
be developed among staff from Planning (both Land Use and Building and Safety
Divisions), Fire, and Public Works Departments that is easy to follow in order to
eliminate (or significantly reduce) the need for multiple departments to review ADU
permit applications and for multiple rounds of review by the same department. The
Universal Checklist should be a single document utilized by all City staff to review
ADU permit applications and by customers to understand code requirements. The
Universal Checklist should enable all City staff and customers to have the same
clear understanding of all of the requirements that, if adhered to, would expedite the
permitting process and lead to lower permit fees over time. b. Accompanying User-
Friendly Webpage. As a companion to the ADU Universal Checklist, the City should
also create a user-friendly webpage for customers (and prospective customers) with
up-to-date information that provides clarity and greater certainty about the process
and expected timeline for the creation of an ADU or Junior ADU, which is within a
main dwelling unit. At a minimum, the webpage should include: i. A list of relevant
fees and expected payment amounts for permits, inspections, and other
requirements; ii. Plan requirements, worksheets, and projected timelines for each
step of the process; and iii. Consolidated up-to-date state and local regulations that
are easy to understand.

3. Recommend that the City Manager consider adoption of the following two best
practices: a. Pre-Approved ADU Design Plans. Consider development of (1) free
ADU designs available to download--of varying sizes and styles--that already
conform to all City and state requirements and safety codes; and/or (2) a list of
vendors with architectural designs and construction drawings that have already been
approved by the City and are available to customers for a nominal fee to the
architect. b. ADU Ally. Consider dedicating existing Planning staff member(s) time to
the role of an “ADU Ally.” The ADU Ally is a customer-facing staff person(s) who is
an expert on all current state and local ADU regulations and acts as an ally to
customers through the planning and building process.

Financial Implications: See report

Contact: Rashi Kesarwani, Councilmember, District 1, (510) 981-7110

Thursday, May 6, 2021 AGENDA Page 7



Items for Future Agendas

e Discussion of items to be added to future agendas

Adjournment

Written communications addressed to the Land Use, Housing & Economic Development Committee and
submitted to the City Clerk Department will be distributed to the Committee prior to the meeting.

This meeting will be conducted in accordance with the Brown Act, Government Code Section 54953.
Members of the City Council who are not members of the standing committee may attend a standing
committee meeting even if it results in a quorum being present, provided that the non-members only act
as observers and do not participate in the meeting. If only one member of the Council who is not a
member of the committee is present for the meeting, the member may participate in the meeting because
less than a quorum of the full Council is present. Any member of the public may attend this meeting.
Questions regarding this matter may be addressed to Mark Numainville, City Clerk, (510) 981-6900.

To request a disability-related accommodation(s) to participate in the meeting, including
auxiliary aids or services, please contact the Disability Services specialist at (510) 981-6418

; COMMUNICATION ACCESS INFORMATION:
(V) or (510) 981-6347 (TDD) at least three business days before the meeting date.

I hereby certify that the agenda for this meeting of the Standing Committee of the Berkeley City Council
was posted at the display case located near the walkway in front of the Maudelle Shirek Building, 2134
Martin Luther King Jr. Way, as well as on the City’s website, on April 29, 2021.

Mk Mssivid)

Mark Numainville, City Clerk

Communications

Communications submitted to City Council Policy Committees are on file in the City Clerk Department at
2180 Milvia Street, 1st Floor, Berkeley, CA, and are available upon request by contacting the City Clerk
Department at (610) 981-6908 or policycommittee@cityofberkeley.info.

Thursday, May 6, 2021 AGENDA Page 8


mailto:policycommittee@cityofberkeley.info

Page 1 of 7

BERKELEY CITY COUNCIL LAND USE, HOUSING, & ECONOMIC
DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

REGULAR MEETING

Thursday, March 18, 2021
10:30 AM

Committee Members:
Councilmembers Sophie Hahn, Rigel Robinson, and Lori Droste
Alternate: Councilmember Ben Bartlett

PUBLIC ADVISORY: THIS MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED EXCLUSIVELY THROUGH
VIDEOCONFERENCE AND TELECONFERENCE

Pursuant to Section 3 of Executive Order N-29-20, issued by Governor Newsom on March 17,
2020, this meeting of the City Council Land Use, Housing, & Economic Development Committee
will be conducted exclusively through teleconference and Zoom videoconference. Please be
advised that pursuant to the Executive Order, and to ensure the health and safety of the public
by limiting human contact that could spread the COVID-19 virus, there will not be a physical
meeting location available.

To access the meeting remotely using the internet: Join from a PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone, or Android
device: Use URL https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82575821005. If you do not wish for your name to
appear on the screen, then use the drop down menu and click on "rename" to rename yourself to
be anonymous. To request to speak, use the “raise hand” icon on the screen.

To join by phone: Dial 1-669-900-9128 or 1-877-853-5257 (Toll Free) and Enter Meeting ID: 825
7582 1005. If you wish to comment during the public comment portion of the agenda, press *9
and wait to be recognized by the Chair.

Written communications submitted by mail or e-mail to the Land Use, Housing, & Economic
Development Committee by 5:00 p.m. the Friday before the Committee meeting will be distributed

to the members of the Committee in advance of the meeting and retained as part of the official
record. City offices are currently closed and cannot accept written communications in person.

Roll Call: 10:31 a.m. Councilmembers Hahn, Droste, and Robinson present.

Public Comment on Non-Agenda Matters: 10 speakers.

Minutes for Approval

Draft minutes for the Committee's consideration and approval.
Minutes - March 1, 2021 and March 4, 2021
Action: M/S/C (Droste/Hahn) to approve the March 1, 2021 and March 4, 2021

minutes.
Vote: All Ayes.

Thursday, March 18, 2021 MINUTES Page 1

01


https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82575821005
sbunting
Typewritten Text
01


Page 2 of 7

Committee Action ltems

The public may comment on each item listed on the agenda for action as the item is taken up. The Chair
will determine the number of persons interested in speaking on each item. Up to ten (10) speakers may
speak for two minutes. If there are more than ten persons interested in speaking, the Chair may limit the
public comment for all speakers to one minute per speaker. Speakers are permitted to yield their time to
one other speaker, however no one speaker shall have more than four minutes.

Following review and discussion of the items listed below, the Committee may continue an item to a future
committee meeting, or refer the item to the City Council.

Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Act, Adding BMC Chapter 13.89

From: Mayor Arreguin (Author)

Referred: February 24, 2020

Due: April 20, 2021

Recommendation: 1. Adopt a first reading of an ordinance adding Berkeley
Municipal Code Chapter 13.89, the Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Act (TOPA), that
will take effect on final adoption with an implementation start upon completion of
Administrative Regulations and funding of related program costs; and

2. Direct the City Manager to take all necessary steps to implement this chapter
including, but not limited to:

1. Developing Administrative Regulations;

2. Preparing an implementation strategy;

3. ldentifying resources to align databases from Finance, Planning, and the Rent
Board to accurately reflect the properties that would be subject to TOPA,;

4. Determining necessary staffing for program administration and hearing officers for
adjudication;

5. Timelines for project “roll-out”;

6. Determining appropriate amount of funding needed to support the acquisition of
TOPA properties and recommending possible funding sources;

7. Quantifying an annual program budget and referring such program costs to the
June 2020 Budget process.

Financial Implications: See report

Contact: Jesse Arreguin, Mayor, (510) 981-7100

Action: 60 speakers. Due date for policy committee action extended to May 20,
2021 at the request of the author. Item continued to a future meeting of the policy
committee. Chairperson Robinson indicated he would be polling for a potential
special meeting on this item before the next regular meeting of May 6, 2021.

Thursday, March 18, 2021 MINUTES Page 2

10



Page 3 of 7

Unscheduled Items

These items are not scheduled for discussion or action at this meeting. The Committee may schedule
these items to the Action Calendar of a future Committee meeting.

Resolution Recognizing Housing as Human Right; Referring City Manager to
Study Financial Feasibility of Municipal Housing Development Pilot Program
with Cooperative, Nonprofit, and Public Ownership Models, Administered as
Automatic Stabilizers to Guarantee Adequate Housing (/ltem contains revised
material.)

From: Councilmember Taplin (Author), Mayor Arreguin (Co-Sponsor),
Councilmember Harrison (co-sponsor), Councilmember Hahn (Co-Sponsor)
Referred: February 8, 2021

Due: June 29, 2021

Recommendation: Refer the City Manager’s office to study the financial feasibility of
a municipal housing development pilot program administering automatic stabilizers to
guarantee adequate housing security in Berkeley, with reqular community input and
periodic monitoring of socioeconomic indicators. Pilot program feasibility study shall
include, but not be limited to:

1. Feasibility study of public lands suitable mixed-income transit-oriented housing
development identified in 2017 Analysis of City-Owned Lands and zoning changes
needed for affordable housing at listed sites to address all income categories in
upcoming Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA) cycle;

2. Pilot program to establish a Reparative Justice Revolving Loan Fund with
affirmative racial justice and anti-displacement goals, providing low-interest loans for
tenants, nonprofits, limited-equity co-operatives, and community land trusts to
acquire, develop, and/or maintain permanently affordable housing.

3. Pilot program to establish publicly available, user-friendly data dashboard
monitoring Housing Justice Indicators in the city including, but not limited to, (a)
health and safety standards, (b) affordability, (c) stability, and (d) discrimination and
disparate impacts under US Department of Housing and Urban Development’s
Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing (AFFH) rule; aligning Indicators with thresholds
for corrective actions including land-use policy review and fiscal analysis.

4. State and regional partnerships with the California Department of Housing and
Community Development, the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) and
Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG), UC Berkeley, and Bay Area Rapid
Transit to develop fiscally resilient mixed-income housing and community
reinvestment through land held in public trust and/or limited-equity cooperatives and
community land trusts.

Financial Implications: See report

Contact: Terry Taplin, Councilmember, District 2, (510) 981-7120

Thursday, March 18, 2021 MINUTES Page 3



Page 4 of 7

Unscheduled Items

Affordable Housing Overlay (/tem contains revised material.)

From: Councilmember Taplin (Author), Councilmember Bartlett (Co-Sponsor),
Councilmember Robinson (Co-Sponsor)

Referred: February 22, 2021

Due: July 12, 2021

Recommendation: Refer to the City Manager and Planning Commission revisions
to the zoning code and General Plan, permitting increased height and density for
100% affordable housing developments, including but not limited to:

1. Exceeding standards set forth in California Government Code Section 65915 with
additional height and density incentives for qualifying 100% affordable projects deed-
restricted for low- and moderate-income households, including:

a. An additional 33’ local density bonus for qualifying projects with low- and
moderate-income units deed-restricted for households earning up to 100% of Area
Median Income, aiming to maximize total unit count restricted for Very Low and
Extremely Low Income households;

b. Expanding waiver of density limits, including units per acre and floor area ratio, for
transit-adjacent projects to include all parcels within one half mile of a commuter rail
station, and within 1/4 mile of an AC Transit bus route with 7-day service in Fiscal
Year 2019;

c. Reduced density limits for projects outside of transit proximity threshold with
additional Transportation Demand Management (TDM) policies, including bike
parking, paratransit and shared micro-mobility systems;

d. Ministerial approval of all qualifying projects meeting objective design criteria and
union labor requirements;

e. Exempting parcels with Designated Historic Landmarks and maintaining
demolition restrictions consistent with state law.

2. Ministerial approval for a baseline of 76’ for 100% affordable residential dwelling
units in all commercial zones, and provisions for ground-floor retail and/or live-work
space;

3. In R-1, R-1A and R-2 zones, provide ministerial approval for a 10’ local density
bonus for 100% affordable housing, with waived density requirements for dwelling
units per acre and lot coverage. On parcels within high-risk wildfire zones as
determined by the California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CalFire),
ministerial approval for 100% affordable projects should be contingent on fire-
blocking design and defensible space standards certified by the Planning
Department.

Council directs the Planning Commission and staff to codify an Affordable Housing
Overlay for 100% affordable housing as specified above in 2021-2022 work plans in
anticipation of 2023-2031 RHNA targets. Staff and the commission should build upon
the framework established in Government Code Section 65915 as well as municipal
implementations of Affordable Housing Overlays in other states, such as Cambridge
and Somerville, MA.

Financial Implications: See report

Contact: Terry Taplin, Councilmember, District 2, (510) 981-7120

Thursday, March 18, 2021 MINUTES Page 4



Page 5 of 7

Unscheduled Items

5. Amendments to Berkeley Municipal Code 23C.22: Short Term Rentals
From: Councilmember Harrison (Author)
Referred: July 28, 2020
Due: September 30, 2021
Recommendation: Amend Berkeley Municipal Code 23C.22: Short Term Rentals to
clarify the ordinance and insure adequate host responsibilities, tenant protections
and remedies for violating the ordinance.
Financial Implications: See report
Contact: Kate Harrison, Councilmember, District 4, (510) 981-7140

Items for Future Agendas

e Discussion of items to be added to future agendas

Councilmember Droste absent 1:23 p.m. — 1:30 p.m.

Adjournment

Action: M/S/C (Hahn/Robinson) to adjourn the meeting.
Vote: Ayes — Hahn, Robinson; Noes — None; Abstain — None; Absent — Droste.

Adjourned at 1:30 p.m.

| hereby certify that this is a true and correct record of the Land Use, Housing, &
Economic Development Committee meeting held on March 18, 2021.

Sarah K. Bunting, Assistant City Clerk

Communications

Communications submitted to City Council Policy Committees are on file in the City Clerk Department at
2180 Milvia Street, 1st Floor, Berkeley, CA, and are available upon request by contacting the City Clerk
Department at (510) 981-6908 or policycommittee@cityofberkeley.info.

Thursday, March 18, 2021 MINUTES Page 5

13


mailto:policycommittee@cityofberkeley.info

Page 6 of 7

BERKELEY CITY COUNCIL LAND USE, HOUSING, & ECONOMIC
DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

SPECIAL MEETING

Monday, April 26, 2021
10:30 AM

Committee Members:

Councilmembers Sophie Hahn, Rigel Robinson, and Lori Droste
Alternate: Councilmember Ben Bartlett

PUBLIC ADVISORY: THIS MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED EXCLUSIVELY THROUGH
VIDEOCONFERENCE AND TELECONFERENCE

Pursuant to Section 3 of Executive Order N-29-20, issued by Governor Newsom on March 17,
2020, this meeting of the City Council Land Use, Housing, & Economic Development Committee
will be conducted exclusively through teleconference and Zoom videoconference. Please be
advised that pursuant to the Executive Order, and to ensure the health and safety of the public
by limiting human contact that could spread the COVID-19 virus, there will not be a physical
meeting location available.

To access the meeting remotely using the internet: Join from a PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone, or Android
device: Use URL https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86028752299. If you do not wish for your name to
appear on the screen, then use the drop down menu and click on "rename" to rename yourself to
be anonymous. To request to speak, use the “raise hand” icon on the screen.

To join by phone: Dial 1-669-900-9128 or 1-877-853-5257 (Toll Free) and Enter Meeting ID:
860 2875 2299. If you wish to comment during the public comment portion of the agenda, press
*9 and wait to be recognized by the Chair.

Written communications submitted by mail or e-mail to the Land Use, Housing, & Economic
Development Committee by 5:00 p.m. the Friday before the Committee meeting will be distributed
to the members of the Committee in advance of the meeting and retained as part of the official
record. City offices are currently closed and cannot accept written communications in person.

Roll Call: 10:32 am. Councilmembers Droste, Hahn, and Robinson present.

Committee Action Iltems

The public may comment on each item listed on the agenda for action as the item is taken up. The Chair
will determine the number of persons interested in speaking on each item. Up to ten (10) speakers may
speak for two minutes. If there are more than ten persons interested in speaking, the Chair may limit the
public comment for all speakers to one minute per speaker. Speakers are permitted to yield their time to
one other speaker, however no one speaker shall have more than four minutes.

Following review and discussion of the items listed below, the Committee may continue an item to a future
committee meeting, or refer the item to the City Council.

Monday, April 26, 2021 AGENDA Page 1

14


https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86028752299

Page 7 of 7

Committee Action ltems

1. Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Act, Adding BMC Chapter 13.89
From: Mayor Arreguin (Author) (Item contains revised material.)
Referred: February 24, 2020
Due: May 20, 2021
Recommendation: 1. Adopt a first reading of an ordinance adding Berkeley
Municipal Code Chapter 13.89, the Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Act (TOPA), that
will take effect on final adoption with an implementation start upon completion of
Administrative Regulations and funding of related program costs; and
2. Direct the City Manager to take all necessary steps to implement this chapter
including, but not limited to:
1. Developing Administrative Regulations;
2. Preparing an implementation strategy;
3. Identifying resources to align databases from Finance, Planning, and the Rent
Board to accurately reflect the properties that would be subject to TOPA,;
4. Determining necessary staffing for program administration and hearing officers for
adjudication;
5. Timelines for project “roll-out”;
6. Determining appropriate amount of funding needed to support the acquisition of
TOPA properties and recommending possible funding sources;
7. Quantifying an annual program budget and referring such program costs to the
June 2020 Budget process.
Financial Implications: See report
Contact: Jesse Arreguin, Mayor, (510) 981-7100
Action: 41 speakers. Discussion held. Item continued to the next meeting of the
policy committee.

Items for Future Agendas

e Discussion of items to be added to future agendas

Adjournment

Action: M/S/C (Hahn/Robinson) to adjourn the meeting.
Vote: All Ayes.

Adjourned at 1:22 p.m.

| hereby certify that this is a true and correct record of the Land Use, Housing, &
Economic Development Committee meeting held on April 26, 2021.

Sarah K. Bunting, Assistant City Clerk

Communications

Communications submitted to City Council Policy Committees are on file in the City Clerk Department at
2180 Milvia Street, 1st Floor, Berkeley, CA, and are available upon request by contacting the City Clerk
Department at (510) 981-6908 or policycommittee@cityofberkeley.info.

Monday, April 26, 2021 AGENDA Page 2

15


mailto:policycommittee@cityofberkeley.info

16



Page 1 of 2 APPENDIX D.

APPENDIX D. TEMPORARY RULES REGARDING POLICY COMMITTEES
AND LEGISLATIVE WOR}?EFI\,I_I(E)Iva[E)ngG THE COVID-19 LOCAL

To support staff, councilmembers, and members of the public in their focused work to
address the COVID-19 pandemic; manage health, mental health, and economic impacts;
and navigate the complexities of reopening after more than a year of shelter-in-place,
these temporary rules limiting Policy Committee and City Council consideration of new
significant legislation are hereby adopted.

1) Except as provided below, “new significant legislation” is defined as any law, program,
or policy that represents a significant change or addition to existing law, program, or
policy, or is likely to call for or elicit significant study, analysis, or input from staff,
Councilmembers or members of the public.

2) New significant legislation originating from the Council, Commissions, or Staff related to
the City’s COVID-19 response, including but not limited to health and economic
impacts of the pandemic or recovery, or addressing other health and safety concerns,
the City Budget process, or other essential or ongoing City processes or business will
be allowed to move forward, as well as legislative items that are urgent, time sensitive,
smaller, or less impactful.

3) New significant legislation not related to the City’s COVID-19 response may be
submitted to the Agenda process to be referred to the appropriate Policy Committee
but will be placed on the committee’s unscheduled items list, and timelines will be tolled
for the duration of these temporary rules.

4) Councilmembers, Commission Chairs/representatives, and Staff may request
reconsideration of Agenda Committee determinations regarding significance/impacts,
time sensitivity and/or relevance to factors listed in (2), above.

5) Policy Committees may take up items referred previous to adoption of these temporary
rules or may place them on the unscheduled list where timelines will be tolled.
Reconsideration of a determination to place an item on the unscheduled calendar may
be requested by the author on the same basis as a reconsideration by the Agenda
Committee. Policy Committees are asked to prioritize pending items related to
categories listed in (2), above. When a Policy Committee has no active items the
Committee will not meet.

6) The Agenda & Rules and Budget & Finance Policy Committees will continue to meet to
carry out their essential agenda setting and budget policy making roles; other
legislation before these committees may be placed on the unscheduled calendar where
timelines will be automatically tolled for the duration that this policy is in place.

7) Any outstanding items voted out of Policy Committee should include staffing and
budgetary needs and a budget referral. Implementation of new ordinances, programs
or policies may be deferred for the duration of these temporary rules and/or if resources
are not identified and allocated.

44

02

17


sbunting
Typewritten Text
02


Page 2 of 2 APPENDIX D.

8)

9)

These temporary measures will automatically expire on July 28, 2021 unless the term
is shortened or extended by a vote of the City Council.

When Policy Committees are reopened by the full City Council, items pending before
the Committee will be prioritized by vote of the members of each Committee, based on
a proposal by the Chair, in an order that takes into account and balances, among other
things, (i) the amount of time items have been pending before the Committee, (ii) the
time sensitivity of the issues/topics raised by the legislation, (iii) a fair distribution of
items from all Councilmembers within the queue, and (iv) a fair distribution of topic
areas.

45
18



Page 1 of 2

03

No Material
Available for
this Iltem

There is no material for this item.

City Clerk Department
2180 Milvia Street
Berkeley, CA 94704
(510) 981-6900

The City of Berkeley Land Use, Housing, & Economic Development Policy Committee
Webpage:

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Home/
Policy Committee Land Use, Housing Economic Development.aspx

19


https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Home/Policy_Committee__Land_Use,_Housing___Economic_Development.aspx
sbunting
Typewritten Text
03


Page 2 of 2

20



Page 1 of 145

Modifications to TOPA Ordinance 4-26-2021

Land Use Policy Committee

1. Exemptions:

a. Additional clarity that owner occupied SFR, ADUs or Jr ADUs are
exempt if property is a primary residence

b. Added coming "out of" a revocable trust

c. Increased the number of units from no more than 4 to no more than
5 that could be exempt in the case of a medical emergency of the
owner and added spouse, domestic partner and children to the
provision

. Added clarity to statement of interest, right of first offer and right of first
refusal, specifically around Qualified Organization and Tenant
Organizations.

. Removed the requirement of 3 year occupancy for properties that use
public funds.

. Added a provision that rents could increase to incorporate capital
improvements, amortized of the life of the improvement, as per rent
stabilization definitions.

. Excluded stock or limited equity cooperatives from having to pay housing
mitigation fees if they have affordability deed restrictions.

. Increased closing time for SFR if a tenant organization (multiple owners)
was formed that required a commercial mortgage.

04

21


sbunting
Typewritten Text
04


Page 2 of 145

ORDINANCE NO. -N.S.

ADOPTING CHAPTER 13.89 OF THE BERKELEY MUNICIPAL CODE

TENANT OPPORTUNITY TO PURCHASE ACT

BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of Berkeley as follows:

Section 1. Chapter 13.89 is hereby added to the Berkeley Municipal Code to read as

follows:

13.89.010
13.89.020
13.89.030
13.89.040
13.89.050
13.89.060
13.89.070
13.89.080
13.89.090
13.89.100
13.89.110
13.89.120
13.89.130
13.89.140
13.89.150
13.89.160
13.89.170
13.89.180

13.89.010

Chapter 13.89
TENANT OPPORTUNITY TO PURCHASE ACT

Title and Purpose

Findings

Definitions

Applicability

Exemptions

Qualified Nonprofits

Supportive Partners

Notice of Intent to Sell; Statement of Interest
Right of First Offer

Right of First Refusal

Incentive to Accept Offer from Qualified Organization
Confidential Information Protected
Prohibited Conduct

Financial Assistance

Price Stabilization; Tenant Protections
Implementation

Enforcement

Severability

Title and Purpose.

A. This Chapter shall be referred to as the Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Act.

B. The purpose of this Chapter is to confer upon Tenants of Rental Properties as
defined herein a right of first offer and a right of first refusal upon the transfer or sale of
Rental Property, and to create an incentive for Owners of Rental Properties to offer their
property for sale to Tenants residing there.

22



Page 3 of 145

13.89.020 Findings.

A. As the Bay Area region experiences increased economic growth and a high
demand for housing, housing prices continue to rise which leads to displacement of low-
income residents.

B. The current need for affordable housing units in Alameda County is 51,732 units
(California Housing Partnership). Approximately 20% of residents in Berkeley are living
in poverty.

C. The lack of affordable housing for Berkeley’s low-income communities is resulting
in Berkeley residents having no option but to leave the City entirely or risk becoming
homeless. Currently, there are an estimated 2,000 people who experience homelessness
in Berkeley each year, and in December 2019 the Council extended its declaration of a
homeless shelter crisis to January 2022.

D. The nine-county Bay Area has been losing an annual average of 32,000
unsubsidized affordable homes occupied by low-income households since 2012.
Unsubsidized affordable housing is the most common form of low-income housing, and
at the same time is the most at risk of loss through rent increases, evictions, condo
conversions, demolition and more. And, overall preservation is cost-effective compared
to new production, at 50-70% of the cost of new affordable housing production (Enterprise
Community Partners).

E. Affordable housing preservation and anti-displacement strategies will help keep
low income tenants in their homes and is codified in the Berkeley General Plan Housing
Element. Furthermore, production and maintaining affordable housing, at all income
levels, is a stated priority of the City Council in its Housing Action Plan.

F. The City Council finds that in the interest of preventing the displacement of lower-
income tenants and preserving affordable housing, it is necessary and appropriate to
require that the owners of rental properties in the City offer tenants and qualified nonprofit
organizations the opportunity to purchase the property before it may be sold on the market
to a third-party purchaser.

13.89.030 Definitions.

A. “‘Dwelling Unit,” “Accessory Dwelling Unit,” and “Single Family Dwelling” are
defined in Section 23F.04.010.

B. “Offer for Sale” means an offer to sell a Rental Property that includes all material
and commercially reasonable terms.

C. “Qualified Nonprofit” means a nonprofit, which is either exempt from federal
income tax under 26 U.S.C. § 501(c)(3) or a California cooperative corporation, that has
the capacity to acquire, provide, and manage affordable housing for moderate, low, very
low, and extremely low income households, and is certified by the City Manager pursuant
to Section 13.89.060.A.

23



Page 4 of 145

D. “‘Qualified Organization” means either a Tenant Organization or a Qualified
Nonprofit.
E. “‘Owner” means any person, corporation, partnership, limited liability company,

trustee, or any other entity, who is the owner of record of a Rental Property. Each Owner
shall be jointly and severally responsible for compliance with the requirements of this
Chapter.

F. “‘Rental Property” means any residential property containing one or more Rental
Units and located in the City of Berkeley.

G. “‘Rental Unit” means any Dwelling Unit sleeping quarters occupied by one or more
Tenants in the City of Berkeley.

H. “Supportive Partner” means any person or organization certified by the City
Manager pursuant to Section 13.89.070.A to provide Tenant counseling and technical
support services pursuant to this Chapter.

l. "Tenant" means any renter, tenant, subtenant, lessee, or sublessee of a Rental
Unit, or successor to a renter’s interest, or any group of tenants, subtenants, lessees, or
sublessees of any Rental Unit, or any other person entitled to the use or occupancy of
such Rental Unit.

J. “Tenant Organization” means any legal entity or unincorporated and/or informal
association that is authorized to act on behalf of a majority of Tenants of a Rental
Property. A Tenant residing on a property with no more than one Rental Unit may exercise
the rights of a Tenant Organization under this Chapter. For purposes of this Paragraph
only, any and all lessees of a Dwelling Unit are collectively considered to be one Tenant,
and each such lessee of a Dwelling Unit must consent to representation by the Tenant
Organization.

K. “Third-Party Purchaser” means any prospective purchaser of a Rental Property
other than a Qualified Organization as defined in Paragraph D.

13.89.040  Applicability.

This Chapter shall apply to the sale or transfer of all Rental Property in the City of
Berkeley, unless otherwise exempted herein.

13.89.050 Exemptions.

A. Residential Property Types Exempted. The following Rental Properties are not
subject to the requirements of this Chapter.

1. Rental Properties at which all Rental Units are vacant on the date of the
transfer or sale of the Rental Property.

2. Any Rental Property comprised entirely of owner-occupied Rental Units,

24



Page 5 of 145

including any owner-occupied Single-Family Dwelling.

3. Any Accessory Dwelling Unit (inclusive of any junior Accessory Dwelling
Unit) located on the same parcel as an—owner-oceupied—a Single Family Dwelling
occupied by the Owner as their principal residence or ewner-eccupied-an Accessory
Dwelling Unit_accessory to a Single Family Dwelling occupied by the Owner as their
principal residence.

4. Rental Properties owned by the local, state, or federal government.

5. Rental Properties owned by and operated as a hospital, convent,
monastery, extended care facility, convalescent home, or dormitories owned by
educational institutions.

6. Group Living Accommodations.

7. Properties owned by housing cooperatives, if the cooperative entity is
owned and controlled by a majority of residents. This definition includes non-profit mutual
housing associations and limited equity housing cooperatives.

8. Properties defined as “assisted housing developments” pursuant to
California Government Code Section 65863.10(a)(3) so long as the provisions of
California Government Code Section 65863.10, 65863.11, and 65863.13 apply.

B. Transfers Exempted. The following transfers of Rental Properties are not subject
to the requirements of this Chapter.

1. An inter vivos transfer, whether or not for consideration, between spouses,
domestic partners, parents and children, siblings, and/or grandparents and grandchildren.

2. A transfer for consideration by a decedent’s estate if the consideration
arising from the transfer will pass from the decedent’s estate to, or solely for the benefit
of, charity.

3. A transfer of legal title or an interest in an entity holding legal title to a Rental
Property pursuant to a bona fide deed of trust or mortgage, and thereafter any transfer
by foreclosure sale or deed in lieu of foreclosure pursuant to a bona fide deed of trust or
mortgage. This exemption does not supersede any rights to purchase afforded to Tenants
or Qualified Nonprofits under the California Civil Code Sections 2924f-h, 2924m-n, or
2929.3.

4. A transfer of bare legal title into_or out of a revocable trust, without actual
consideration for the transfer, where one or more transferors is a current beneficiary of
the trust.

5. A transfer by devise, descent, or operation of the law upon the death of a
natural person.

25



Page 6 of 145

6. A transfer pursuant to court order or court-approved settlement.

7. Any transfer to a public agency, including but not limited to a transfer by
eminent domain or under threat of eminent domain.

8. Any transfer of a fractional interest in a Rental Property that is less 50% of
an undivided interest in the Rental Property.

9. Any transfer in which the transferee receives a low-income housing credit
under 28 U.S.C. § 42.

10. A transfer of a Rental Property having no more than feurfive Rental Units
made for the purpose of paying for imminently necessary health care expenses of an
Owner of the Rental Property, or any such expenses incurred by a spouse, domestic
partner, or child of any Owner. For purposes of this subparagraph only, “Owner” shall be
limited to a natural person having an undivided interest in the Rental Property of at least
50%.

13.89.060 Qualified Nonprofits.

A. Certification, Term, and Renewal. The City Manager shall certify Qualified
Nonprofits that meet the requirements of this Chapter and any other requirements
necessary to effectuate the purpose of this Chapter that the City Manager shall proscribe
by Administrative Regulation. A nonprofit organization’s certification as a Qualified
Nonprofit shall be valid for four years. The City Manager shall solicit new applications for
Qualified Nonprofit status at least once each calendar year, at which time existing
Qualified Nonprofits shall be eligible to apply for renewed certification. A list of Qualifying
Nonprofits shall be published on the City’s website and made available by the City
Manager upon request.

B. Conflicts of Interest; Disqualification of Qualified Nonprofits. A Qualifying Nonprofit
may not act in a manner that is adverse to the interests of Tenants occupying a Rental
Property that is subject to this Chapter. The City Manager shall promptly investigate any
complaint alleging that a Qualified Nonprofit has a conflict of interest or has failed to
comply with the requirements of this Chapter. If after providing the Qualified Nonprofit
with notice and opportunity to be heard, the City Manager determines that an organization
listed as a Qualified Nonprofit has a conflict of interest or has failed to comply with the
requirements of this Chapter, the City Manager may limit, suspend, or revoke that
organization’s certification as a Qualified Nonprofit.

C. A Qualified Nonprofit is conferred a right of first refusal-offer and right of first
purchase—refusal as a Qualified Organization under this Chapter only if a Tenant
Organization qualified to act on behalf of Tenants of a Rental Property (1) assigns in
writing the Tenants’ rights effirstrefusal-under this Chapter to the Qualified Nonprofit;;-er
(2) executes a written waiver of the Tenants’ rights effirstrefusalunder this Chapter; or
(3) no Tenant—Organization—_ submits a statement of interest pursuant to Section
13.89.080.C. If no Tenant Organization has been formed to act on behalf of Tenants of a
Rental Property, an assignment or waiver of rights pursuant to this Paragraph executed

26



Page 7 of 145

after the expiration of the Notice Period shall be valid if signed by all Tenants who
submitted a Statement of Interest pursuant to Section 13.89.080.C.

13.89.070  Supportive Partners.

A. Certification of Supportive Partners. The City Manager shall establish criteria for
the identification and selection of persons or organizations who may serve as Supportive
Partners under this Chapter. Supportive Partners shall be selected based on their
expertise and ability to counsel Tenants on first-time homeownership, obtaining financing
for the purchase of Rental Properties, and the formation and governance of collective
ownership structures, and to otherwise provide support for Tenants who seek to exercise
their rights under this Chapter. The certification as a Supportive Partner shall be valid for
four years. The City Manager shall solicit new applications for Supportive Partner status
at least once each calendar year, at which time existing Supportive Partners shall be
eligible to apply for renewed certification. A list of Supportive Partners shall be published
on the City’s website and made available by the City Manager upon request.

B. Requirement to Select Supportive Partner. A Tenant Organization seeking to
exercise a right of first offer under Section 13.89.090 or right of first refusal under Section
13.89.100 must select a Supportive Partner and disclose the Supportive Partner to the
Owner of the Rental Property within the time set forth in Sections 13.89.080.D and
13.89.090.A. The requirement to select a Supportive Partner shall not apply if there are
no certified Supportive Partners on the list maintained by the City Manager pursuant to
Paragraph A.

C. Conflicts of Interest; Disqualification of Supportive Partners. A Supportive Partner
may not act in a manner that is adverse to the interests of Tenants occupying a Rental
Property that is subject to this Chapter. The City Manager shall promptly investigate any
complaint alleging that a Supportive Partner has a conflict of interest or has failed to
comply with the requirements of this Chapter. If after providing the Supportive Partner
with notice and opportunity to be heard, the City Manager determines that a Supportive
Partner has a conflict of interest or has failed to comply with the requirements of this
Chapter, the City Manager may limit, suspend, or revoke that organization’s certification
as a Supportive Partner.

13.89.080 Notice of Intent to Sell; Statement of Interest.

A. Notice of Intent to Sell. An Owner of a Rental Property shall provide all Tenants
notice of their intent to sell prior to listing or otherwise marketing a Rental Property for
sale (“Notice of Intent to Sell”). The Notice of Intent to Sell shall be provided at least 45
days before marketing a Rental Property with three or more Rental Units, or at least 20
days before marketing a Rental Property with two or fewer Rental Units (“Notice Period”).
The Notice of Intent to Sell shall be sent to each Tenant address via certified mail and
posted at conspicuous locations at the Rental Property and shall include the following:

1. A statement that the Owner intends to sell the Rental Property.

2. A statement describing the rights of Tenants under this Chapter and stating

6

27



Page 8 of 145

the deadlines for exercising those rights.

3. A list of units by address and the rent due for each unit, if occupied, and any
available contract information for each occupant.

4. An itemized list of annual income and expenses for each of the two
preceding calendar years, including but not limited to rent and other income collected and
costs of management, insurance, utilities, and maintenance.

5. Instructions for submitting a Statement of Interest pursuant to Paragraph C.

B. Notice to Qualified Nonprofits. On the same date as notice is provided to Tenants
pursuant to Paragraph A, the Owner shall provide a copy of the Notice of Intent to Sell
the Rental Property via email to each Qualified Nonprofit certified by the City Manager.
The City Manager shall maintain a list of email address for distribution of the Notice of
Intent to Sell and shall make that list available on the City’s website and upon request.

C. Statement of Interest. Prior to the expiration of the Notice Period set forth in
Paragraph A, any Tenant or Qualified Organization may deliver a statement of interest to
the Owner of the Rental Property (“Statement of Interest”). The Statement of Interest shall
notify the Owner of the Tenant’s (or Tenants’) or Qualified Organization’s interest in
exercising the-right-of-first-offer-andforright-of refusaltheir rights under this Chapter. In
the event that any Tenant submits a Statement of Interest in response to a Notice of Intent
to Sell, the right of first offer conferred by Section 13.89.090 may be exercised solely by

a Tenant Orqanization that satisfies the requirements of Section 13 89. 030Jany

be—rendered—nuﬂ—verd—and—ma% prowded however nothlng in thls Paragraph shaII
prohibit a Tenant Organization from assigning the Tenants’ right of first offer or right of
first refusal to a Qualified Nonprofit after one or more Tenant submits a Statement of
Interest.

D. Formation of Tenant Organization; Selection of Supportive Partner. If one or more
Tenants submits a Statement of Interest, the Tenants of the Rental Property must identify
or form a Tenant Organization as defined in Section 13.89.030.J and select a Supportive
Partner, subject to Section 13.89.070.B. Any Tenants of a Rental Property having only
one Rental Unit may exercise the rights of a Tenant Organization under this Chapter and
shall be exempt from the requirement to select a Supportive Partner. A Tenant
Organization identified or formed pursuant to this Paragraph shall be entitled to exercise
the rights of a Qualified Organization set forth in Sections 13.89.090 and 13.89.100.

E. Effect of Statement of Interest. Receipt of a timely Statement of Interest shall
extend the Notice Period for 60 days. For Rental Properties having 10 or more Rental
Units, any Tenant or Qualified Organization that submits a valid Statement of Interest
shall be granted an additional 30-day extension of the Notice Period upon timely written
request. For Rental Properties having 20 or more Rental Units, any Tenant or Qualified
Organization that submits a valid Statement of Interest shall be granted a total of two
additional 30-day extensions of the Notice Period upon timely written request.

28



Page 9 of 145

F. Prohibition on Marketing Property During Notice Period. Prior to the expiration of
the Notice Period, tFhe Owner of a Rental Property shall be prohibited from listing or
marketing the Rental Property for sale-_or entering into any agreement for the sale or

transfer of the Rental Propertyprior-to-the-expiration-of- the- Notice Period.
13.89.090 Right of First Offer.

A. Right of First Offer. A Qualified Organization that submits a valid-Statement of
Interest shall have the right to make an offer to purchase a Rental Property prior to the
sale of the Rental Property to a Third-Party Purchaser; provided, however, that in the
event that any Tenant submits a Statement of Interest pursuant to Section 13.89.080.C,
the right of first offer conferred by this Section may be exercised solely by a Tenant
Organization that satisfies the requirements of Section 13.89.030.J unless an assignment
or waiver of rights have been executed pursuant to Section 13.89.060.C.

A-B. . The Qualified Organization may deliver to the Owner of the Rental Property an
offer to purchase the property, together with disclosure of its selected Supportive Partner,
at any time prior to the expiration of the Notice Period. The Owner may accept or reject
any offer to purchase received from a Qualified Organization.

B.C. Acceptance of Offer of Purchase. Upon acceptance of any offer to purchase a
Rental Property made pursuant to Paragraph A, the Owner and Qualified Organization
shall make reasonable and good faith efforts to close the transaction. The Qualified
Organization shall have at least 30 days to close the transaction for the sale of a property
having one Rental Unit; 90 days to close the transaction for the sale of property having
two Rental Units; and 120 days to close the transaction for the sale of property having
three or more Rental Units. The deadline to close a transaction for the sale of Rental
Property having one Rental Unit shall be extended to up to 90 days from the date of
acceptance of the offer if the Qualified Organization provides written documentation that
its lender will require a commercial loan for the purchase of the Rental Property. The
Qualified Organization shall be entitled to reasonable extensions of the time to close not
to exceed 30 days upon demonstrating that it is diligently pursuing financing or diligently
pursing the completion of other requirements to close the transaction. Nothing in this
Paragraph shall prevent the Owner and the Qualified Organization for agreeing to further
extend the deadline to close the transaction.

C.D. Termination of Right of First Offer. Upon (1) rejection of all offers to purchase made
within the Notice Period, (2) the expiration of the Notice Period, or (3) the failure to close
the transaction within the time period set forth in Paragraph B, the Owner may list and
market for sale the Rental Property and may solicit and conditionally except offers from a
Third-Party Purchaser, subject to the requirements of Section 13.89.100._ The
requirements of Section 13.89.100 shall not apply if no Qualified Organization submits an
offer to purchase the Rental Property under this Section.

13.89.100 Right of First Refusal.

A. Disclosure of Offer of Sale. The Owner shall disclose any Offer of Sale received

29



Page 10 of 145

from a Third-Party Purchaser to any Qualified Organization that submits-a-valid-Statement
of-nterest-exercised a valid right of first offer under Section 13.89.100, and shall provide
said Qualified Organization a right of first refusal pursuant to the requirements of this
Chapter. The Owner shall disclose to each Qualified Organization that-submits-a-valid
Statement-ofInterest-eligible to exercise a right of first refusal under this Section all
material terms of any Offer of Sale of the Rental Property, together with all commercially
reasonable disclosures, in substantially the same form and having substantially the same
content as would be provided to any prospective Third-Party Purchaser. Any written offer
received by the Owner shall be provided to said Qualified Organizations; provided,
however, that any confidential information not necessary to comply with the requirements
of this Paragraph may redacted from such offers.

B. Right of First Refusal. Any Qualified Organization that submits-exercised a valid
right of first offer under Section 13.89.100 a-valid-Statement-of-lInterest-may exercise a
right of first refusal and accept the Offer for Sale of the Rental Property within the time
period set forth in Paragraph C. To exercise its right of first refusal, the Qualified
Organization must accept all material terms of the Offer for Sale; provided, however, the
financing of the Qualified Organization’s purchase shall not be considered a material term
of the Offer for Sale so long as it does not affect the net value of the Sale to the Owner.

C. Time to Exercise Right of First Refusal. The Owner shall provide any Qualified
Organization that-submits-a-valid-Statement-of-lnterest-eligible to exercise a right of first
refusal under this Section at least 10 days to accept the Offer of Sale of Rental Property
having no more than two Rental Units, or at least 30 days to accept the Offer of Sale of
Rental Property having three or more Rental Units. The acceptance of an Offer of Sale
by any Qualified Organization extinguishes any right of first refusal of other eligible
Qualified Organizations.

D. Time to Close. Upon acceptance of the Offer of Sale, the Qualified Organization
shall have at least 30 days to close the transaction for the sale of a property having one
Rental Unit; 90 days to close the transaction for the sale of property having two Rental
Units; and 120 days to close the transaction for the sale of property having three or more
Rental Units. The Qualified Organization shall be entitled to reasonable extensions of the
time to close not to exceed 30 days upon demonstrating that it is diligently pursuing
financing or completing other requirements to close the transaction.

E. Rejection of Offer or Failure to Close. If each Qualified Organization entitled to
receive an Offer of Sale rejects or fails to accept such offer of sale within the time set forth
in Paragraph C or if a Qualified Organization that accepts an Offer for Sale fails to close
the transaction within the time set forth in Paragraph D, the Owner may immediately
proceed with the sale or transfer of the Rental Property to a Third-Party Purchaser.

F. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section, conditional sales agreements
between an Owner and a Third-Party Purchaser are permitted so long as the agreement
is subject to the contingency that no Qualified Organization exercises a right of first refusal
conferred by this Chapter.

30



Page 11 of 145

13.89.110 Incentive to Accept Offer from Qualified Organization.

A. Transfer Tax Refund. An Owner that accepts an offer to purchase Rental Property
from a Qualified Organization submitted pursuant to Section 13.89.090 and transfers title
to a Rental Property to said Qualified Organization shall be entitled to reimbursement of
any real property transfer tax imposed under Section 7.52.040.A. Said reimbursement
shall not include the amount of any voter-approved transfer tax assed pursuant to Section
7.52.040.B-C.

B. Exempt Properties. An Owner of a Rental Property that is exempt from this Chapter
may comply with the requirements of this Section, and shall be entitled to reimbursement
of real property transfer tax pursuant to Paragraph A upon sale of the Rental Property to
a Qualified Organization.

13.89.120 Confidential Information Protected.

Any information exchanged between an Owner, Tenants, or Qualified Organizations
under this Chapter shall be kept confidential to the greatest extent permitted by law. This
Section shall not prohibit disclosure of information necessary to effectuate the purpose of
this Chapter to any Owner, Tenant, or Qualified Organization, or to the City of Berkeley
or its agents or contractors, nor shall this Chapter be construed to limit disclosure of
information in response to a lawfully issued subpoena or court order.

13.89.130 Prohibited Conduct.

A. The sale or transfer of any Rental Property subject to this Chapter and not exempt
pursuant to Section 13.89.050 is prohibited unless the Owner complies with Sections
13.89.090 and 13.89.100. Any change of ownership of real property as defined in
Revenue & Taxation Code § 64(c) shall be considered a sale or transfer of Real Property
for purposes of this Chapter.

B. A Tenant or Qualified Organization shall not sell any right afforded to them under
this Chapter or sell a waiver of any such right, nor shall any Tenant or Qualified
Organization assign or otherwise transfer any such right except as authorized to do so
under this Chapter.

C. An Owner shall not (1) coerce a Tenant or Tenant Organization to waive theirrights
under this Chapter; (2) retaliate against or harass a Tenant seeking to exercise their rights
under this Chapter; or (3) engage in conduct intended to prevent a Tenant from exercising
their rights under this Chapter.

D. Any agreement to shorten the time periods provided for exercise of any right
afforded under this Chapter. Nothing in this Paragraph shall prohibit an agreement to
extend the deadlines set forth herein.

13.89.140 Financial Assistance.

The City Manager shall develop guidelines for providing financial assistance to allow for

10

31



Page 12 of 145

the acquisition of Rental Properties pursuant to this Chapter. Financial assistance may
be provided to Tenants, Tenant Organizations, or Qualified Nonprofits. Nothing in this
provision commits the City Council to providing a specified level of funding for the
acquisition of Rental Property under this Chapter.

: [Commented [JCD1]: Deleted at EBCLC'’s request

)

13.89.150 Price Stabilization; Tenant Protections.

A. Affordability Restriction. Except as otherwise provided herein, any Rental Unit
acquired pursuant to this Chapter shall be subject to a recorded affordability restriction
that ensures that each Rental Unit acquired is available to very low, low, or moderate
income renters or buyers in perpetuity. The City Manager shall set standards for the
provisions of affordable units by Administrative Regulation and for the enforcement of the
requirements of this Section.

B. Exemptions from Affordability Restriction.

1. Any Rental Property purchased by a Tenant Organization that exercises its
rights under this Chapter is exempt from the requirements of Paragraph A unless any
Tenant or the Tenant Organization receives financial assistance pursuant to the
guidelines established under Section 13.89.140.A.

2. A limited equity housing cooperative that meet the requirements of Civil
Code Sections 817 and 817.1 is exempt from the requirements of Paragraph A.

C. The sale of a Rental Property pursuant to this Chapter shall not impair the rights
of any Tenant under Chapter 13.76 or any other applicable state law or local ordinance.
Further, any Tenant who resides in any Rental Unit at the time of the sale of a Rental
Property under this Chapter shall not be subject to eviction based on their failure to meet
income restrictions or other eligibility requirements imposed by this Section. If the sale of
the Rental Property under this Chapter to a Tenant Organization results in the exemption
of any Rental Unit from the requirements of Chapter 13.76, the Tenant Organization and
any subsequent Owner of the Rental Property shall, unless and to the extent prohibited
by state law, limit the increase in rent for any such Rental Unit to the increase in the
Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers (CPI-U) for the twelve month period
ending the previous June 30, as published by the United States Department of Labor,
Bureau of Labor Statistics for the San Francisco-Oakland-Hayward metropolitan area;
provided, however, the Owner may further increase the rent for any such Rental Unit to
cover the cost or planned cost of a reasonable, pro rata share of capital improvements
for common areas and of any other capital improvements that are necessary to bring the
property into compliance or maintain compliance with applicable local code requirements
affecting health and safety, where such capital improvement costs are properly amortized

11

32



Page 13 of 145

over the life of the improvement.

D. Rental Properties acquired pursuant to this Chapter and converted to
condominiums_or stock cooperatives (including limited equity housing cooperatives that
meet the requirements of Civil Code Sections 817 and 817.1) subject to a recorded
affordability restriction under this Section shall be exempt from the requirements of
Section 21.28.070 (“Affordable housing mitigation fee”).

13.89.160 Implementation

A. The City Manager shall adopt Administrative Regulations necessary to implement
the requirements of this Chapter, and may adopt additional rules and regulations for
purposes of administering this Chapter, including but not limited to rules and regulations
governing the reporting of information regarding transactions subject to the requirements
of this Chapter.

B. The provision of Sections 13.89.080 through 13.89.130 shall take effect 90 days
after the City Manager adopts Administrative Regulations pursuant to Paragraph A.

C. The City Manager shall report annually on the implementation of this Chapter to
the City Council or to such City Council Committee as the City Council may designate.
The City Manger’s report shall include the number and types of sales of tenant-occupied
properties; the number of Qualified Organizations that purchase Real Property pursuant to
this Chapter; the number and types of units covered by this Chapter; and other data and
information relevant to evaluating the effectiveness of this Chapter in creating and
preserving affordable housing for residents in the City of Berkeley and in preventing
displacement of City of Berkeley tenants.

13.89.170 Enforcement

A. Any violation of this Chapter or the Administrative Regulations promulgated under
Section 13.89.150.A shall be subject to administrative citation under Chapter 1.28.

B. The City Attorney, any Tenant of a Rental Property subject to this Chapter, or a
Qualified Organization eligible to purchase Rental Property under this Chapter may bring
a civil action to enforce this Chapter, and shall be entitled to the remedies set forth in this
Section to the greatest extent permitted by law.

C. Any violation of the requirements of this Chapter shall be subject to a civil penalty
not to exceed $1,000 per day of violation. Each failure to provide the required notice or
disclosure under Section 13.89.090 shall be considered a separate violation for each
Rental Unit on a Rental Property.

D. A prevailing plaintiff in any action to enforce this Chapter shall be entitled to
damages according to proof and reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. Any court of
competent jurisdiction may order that any transfer or sale of Rental Property made without
complying with the requirements of this Chapter be enjoined or rescinded, and may order
that an Owner of Rental Property comply with the requirements of this Chapter.

12

33



Page 14 of 145

13.89.180  Severability

If any word, phrase, clause, sentence, subsection, section, or other portion of this
Chapter, or any application thereof to any person or circumstance is declared void,
unconstitutional, or invalid for any reason by a decision of a court of competent
jurisdiction, then such word, phrase, clause, sentence, subsection, section, or other
portion, or the prescribed application thereof, shall be severable, and the remaining
provisions of this Chapter, and all applications thereof, not having been declared void,
unconstitutional or invalid, shall remain in full force and effect. The City Council hereby
declares that it would have passed this Chapter, and each section, subsection, sentence,
clause, phrase, and word thereof, irrespective of the fact that any one or more sections,
subsections, sentences, clauses, phrases, or words had been declared invalid or
unconstitutional.

Section 2. Copies of this Ordinance shall be posted for two days prior to adoption in the
display case located near the walkway in front of the Maudelle Shirek Building, 2134
Martin Luther King Jr. Way. Within 15 days of adoption, copies of this Ordinance shall be
filed at each branch of the Berkeley Public Library and the title shall be published in a
newspaper of general circulation.

13

34



Page 15 of 145

( CITY °F

-

o
o
7
)
AL

=

Office of the Mayor
ACTION CALENDAR
March 10, 2020

Revised for Policy Committee
March 18, 2021

To: Honorable Members of the City Council
From: Mayor Jesse Arreguin

Subject: Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Act, Adding BMC Chapter 13.89

RECOMMENDATION

1. Adopt a first reading of an ordinance adding Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter
13.89, the Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Act (TOPA), that will take effect on final
adoption with an implementation start upon completion of Administrative Regulations
and funding of related program costs; and

2. Direct the City Manager to take all necessary steps to implement this chapter
including, but not limited to:

1. Developing Administrative Regulations;
2. Preparing an implementation strategy;

3. ldentifying resources to align databases from Finance, Planning, and the Rent
Board to accurately reflect the properties that would be subject to TOPA;

4. Determining necessary staffing for program administration and hearing officers
for adjudication_and hiring staffing to support the program upon implementation;

5. Timelines for project “roll-out”;

6. Determining appropriate amount of funding needed to support the acquisition of
TOPA properties and identify recemmendingpeossible-funding sources;

7. Quantifying an annual program budget and referring such program costs to the
June 20216 Budget process.

SUMMARY

TOPA is a policy that empowers tenants to determine the future of their housing when
an-O rental property owner is ready to sell, by giving tenants the opportunity to
collectively purchase the property they live in. It does this by creating legal rights for

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 o Tel: (510) 981-7100 o TDD: (510) 981-6903 e Fax: (510) 981-7199
E-Mail: mayor@cityofberkeley.info

35



Page 16 of 145

Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Act (TOPA) ACTION CALENDAR
Page 2 Revised for Policy Committee March 18, 2021

tenants to purchase or assign rights to an affordable housing developer, and providing
technical assistance, education, and financing to help make these purchases possible.
TOPA provides a way to stabilize existing housing for tenants and preserve affordable
housing in Berkeley. It also creates pathways for tenants to become first-time
homeowners and facilitates democratic residential ownership. TOPA will apply to all
rental properties in Berkeley, subject to a number of exemptions:

1. Any Rental Property comprised entirely of owner-occupied Rental Units,
including any owner-occupied Single-Family Dwelling

2. Any Accessory Dwelling Unit (inclusive of any junior Accessory Dwelling Unit)
located on the same parcel of an owner-occupied Single Family Dwelling or
owner-occupied Accessory Dwelling Unit

3. Transfers to family members

4. Transfers by inheritance

4.5. Sale of properties of 4 units or less for the purpose of paying imminently

necessary health care expenses of an Owner of the Rental Propertv meludmg

Owners of rental properties that are exempt can receive the benefit of TOPA incentives
if they comply voluntarily with TOPA policies and procedures.

The first right to purchase is conferred to tenants, and includes a right of first offer, right
of first refusal, and a right for tenants to assign rights to a qualified affordable housing
organization. The ability to assign rights benefits tenants who cannot purchase but wish
to maintain affordable tenancies. It also benefits affordable housing developers as
tenant buy-in is often critical to the successful management of the property. If tenants

waive their rights, the list of qualified affordable housing organizations have a second
opportunity to purchase the property-within-sherter-timelines. Qualified affordable
housing organizations are vetted and must meet criteria such as being committed to
permanent affordablllty and democratic re3|dent|al control. As&gmng—ﬁghfes—m—thls

The policy is designed to maintain-preserve existing affordable housing and create new

properties-purchased-under TOPA-as-permanently- affordable housing for future

generations. Any TOPA property that receives City investment would be deed restricted
to ensure that the property remains permanently affordable. TOPA-properties-thatare

36



Page 17 of 145

Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Act (TOPA) ACTION CALENDAR
Page 3 Revised for Policy Committee March 18, 2021

Multi-tenant buildings that include a mix of TOPA buyers and tenants who wish to
continue renting will be required to ensure tenant protections and the enforcement of
tenant’s rights. This will prevent any internal displacement caused by the exercising of
TOPA rights.

TOPA sales have longer escrow periods in order to provide tenants time to organize,
engage technical assistance, form an organization that would qualify for financing, and
obtain the necessary financing to close a transaction. In order to incentivize owners to
participate in a TOPA sale, owners who sell to tenants or a qualified organization will

receive a refund in the amount of since-itmay-potentially-take-more-time,upon-close-of
escrow-the City-would-refund-to-the-seller-the City’s portion of the Real Property

Transfer Tax (.75%) not including the proportional amount attributed to Measure P.
Recent-tTransactions from the previous 12 months, including asking vs. sales price and
days on the market, were gathered from the MLS Zillew~and provided in Attachment 2.

Moving forward a TOPA policy will require detailed Administrative Regulations and a
well-funded infrastructure to administer and enforce the policy. There is also a vital
need to provide adequate education, legal and technical assistance to tenants as part of
the implementation. As such, there is a requirement for tenants to engage a City
approved supportive partner to assist in all aspects of the transaction, including
submitting the initial offer. Finally, a more robust and vibrant acquisition fund will be
required that can work efficiently with the TOPA ordinance. This funding could be
accommodated through the Small Sites Program with potential funding coming from
Measure U1 tax receipts, the Housing Trust Fund, and Measure O or through another
funding mechanism including grants and future regional subsidy’.

BACKGROUND

Since 2015, Mayor Arreguin and community-based organizations such as the East Bay
Community Law Center (EBCLC), Bay Area Community Land Trust, -ard-Northern
California Land Trust (NCLT) and tenants’ rights organizations have been researching
TOPA'’s effectiveness as an anti-displacement strategy in Berkeley, to be paired with a
robust Small Sites acquisition program.

1 https://www.google.com/url?q=https://abag.ca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2021-02/Launching%2520BAHFA-
Regional%2520Housing%2520Portfolio 2-24-
21_v6.pdf&sa=D&source=editors&ust=1615589062074000&usg=A0vVaw3u4K b2vbj9BZ2J41dWijql

37



Page 18 of 145

Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Act (TOPA) ACTION CALENDAR
Page 4 Revised for Policy Committee March 18, 2021

On February 14, 2017, Mayor Arreguin introduced a Council item entitled “Small Sites
Acquisition Program and Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Act’? which among other
provisions, referred to the City Manager to:

Review and develop an ordinance modeled after Washington D.C.’s Tenant
Opportunity to Purchase Act that offers existing tenants the first right of refusal
when property owners place rental property on the sale market, which can be
transferred to a qualifying affordable housing provider.

On May 30 and November 28, 2017, the Berkeley City Council adopted the “Affordable
Housing Action Plan” which included a referral to staff to develop a Tenant Opportunity
to Purchase Ordinance (TOPA) modeled after a Washington DC law that was enacted
in 1980. On June 11, 2019, City staff returned to Council with an Information item# that
outlined its research and discussed the administration and implementation
requirements. This item was referred to the Agenda & Rules Committee for scheduling
at a future Council meeting. On September 24, 2019, the information item was included
on the Consent Calendar with an action of “received and filed”.

Since the last date of Council action, the Mayor’s Office has been working to develop a
TOPA ordinance, which has been drafted by the East Bay Community Law Center
(EBCLC), with a diverse group of stakeholders including EBCLC, the Northern
California Community Land Trust (NCLT), Bay Area Community Land Trust (BACLT),
tenant advocates, legal professionals that specialize in tenant rights, experts familiar
with the Washington DC policy and its implementation history, and City of Berkeley staff
from the City Attorney’s Office, Planning Department, HHCS, Finance and the Rent
Board.

Additionally, in September 2019, City Planning staff and the East Bay Community Law
Center applied for a grant from the San Francisco Foundation as part of the Partnership
for the Bay’s Future initiative. The Grant purpose was to be used for technical
assistance to jurisdictions for projects focused on protection and preservation of
affordable housing that result in measurable benefits for tenants. Staff applied for the
grant in response to the Berkeley City Council directive, in part, to develop a TOPA
policy as part of the City’s Housing Action Plan (HAP), adopted in 2017.

On February 4, 2020 the San Francisco Foundation officially announced the awards,
one being the City of Berkeley and the East Bay Community Law Center, for the
purposes of developing a Tenant Opportunity to Purchase ordinance and a Local

2 https://www.cityofberkeley.info/.../2017-02-14 Item 18b_Small_Sites Acquisition.aspx

3https://www.cityofberkeley.info/.../2017—11—14 ltem_ 26 Implementation_Plan_for_Affordable Housing.aspx

4https://www.cityofberkeley.im‘o/.../2019—06—11 ltem 50 Referral Response Tenant Opportunity to Purchase.aspx

38


https://www.cityofberkeley.info/2017-02-14_Item_18b_Small_Sites_%20Acquisition.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/2017-11-14_Item_26_Implementation_%20Plan_for_Affordable_Housing.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/2019-06-11_Item_50_Referral_Response%20__Tenant_Opportunity_to_Purchase.aspx

Page 19 of 145

Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Act (TOPA) ACTION CALENDAR
Page 5 Revised for Policy Committee March 18, 2021

Housing Preference Policy. °

On March 4, 2020, the TOPA Ordinance was heard before the Land Use Policy
Committee. There were well over 50 community comments, both in favor and against
the policy as proposed. Policy Committee members provided feedback and questions
to the Mayor’s Office and team. It was clear that there was a greater need to seek more
feedback from property owners and create more educational materials. Over the last
year, the team has been intentional with outreach that included multiple conversations
with the Berkeley Property Owners’ Association (BPOA); a lengthy presentation/Q&A
session with Berkeley Neighborhoods Council, which reached members of
neighborhood associations across the City; and working with Councilmembers to host
neighborhood meetings in D3 and D4 (McGee Spaulding Neighbors in

Action). Additional groups that were contacted, including North and South Berkeley
NOW, declined a presentation because they viewed the policy as outside of their scope
of advocacy. BRIDGE Realtors request and met with the Mayor but delivered no
substantive comments to the original submittal. The Mayor, with support from the
TOPA team, held a Forum on Zoom that included the capacity for chat and email inbox
for the event to address attendees' questions. Importantly, the Ordinance has been
rewritten to improve clarity, reflecting the core concepts while revising timelines, based
on stakeholder input. Additionally, the feedback from last year's LUPC meeting and
feedback received over the last year has informed more modifications to the policy
(such as removing the appraisal provision, limiting disclosures on the front end of the
process, defining exemptions and modifying the permanent affordability restrictions
(See Attachment 5).

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS

Housing Affordability and Regional Impacts

At the end of 1998, just before State-mandated vacancy decontrol took effect, the
average rent in Berkeley’s 20,000 apartments built before 1980 was $720 a month.
Twenty years later the average rent for these same units is $1,956. If rents had risen
only by the rate of inflation, they would average $1,150 a month. In the last five years
alone, rents have increased by 50 percent. Similarly, in 2000 the median home price in
Berkeley was $380,000, rising to $704,000 in 2013 and by 2019 it had reached
$1,300,000.5

Rents in Berkeley and the greater Bay Area continue to rise, with low vacancy rates.”
Future trends are indicating additional loss of naturally occurring affordable housing,
according to the County of Alameda Regional Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing

5 https://sff.org/partnership-for-the-bays-future-marks-one-year-anniversary/
6 Housing for a Diverse, Equitable and Creative Berkeley, July 16, 2019
7 https://www.huduser.gov/portal/publications/pdf/OaklandCA-comp-17.pdf

39


https://sff.org/partnership-for-the-bays-future-marks-one-year-anniversary/
https://www.google.com/url?client=internal-element-cse&cx=017385055954264103894:kn5xiwd8ubm&q=https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2019/07_Jul/Documents/2019-07-16_Revised_Packet_2019-07-16_Item_B_Housing_for_a_Diverse,_Equitable_and_Creative_pdf.aspx&sa=U&ved=2ahUKEwim2-DD0LvnAhU1NX0KHUH4BAEQFjAAegQIAhAC&usg=AOvVaw09AXbt2Hd2Kodt-b0URlIo
https://www.huduser.gov/portal/publications/pdf/OaklandCA-comp-17.pdf

Page 20 of 145

Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Act (TOPA) ACTION CALENDAR
Page 6 Revised for Policy Committee March 18, 2021

Choice (IFHC). As an example: for decades, a 13-unit complex on Solano Ave. housed
a mix of residents — including, teachers, business owners and a 96-year-old woman.
The property is rent-controlled and subject to Berkeley’s eviction protections, but the
owners invoked the Ellis Act that permits full-building evictions if the property is
removed from the rental market altogether (the owners intend to convert the building to
a “tenancy-in-common” and sell the units at market rates).®

Anecdotal research, received from local real estate brokers, when the policy was
presented in 2020-everthe-pasttwo-months, indicate a desire to increase returns on
investment as well as concerns about buyers moving away from the multi-unit property
market.® Due to rent control, tenant protections and eviction laws some owners are
looking to sell multi-unit properties, however existing tenant rents impact the sales price.
Some of the methods being utilized to raise rents, and therefore increase the property
value for sale, include paying tenants to move out of the building, evictions for cause
(when a case can be made), owner-move-in evictions, and Condo/Tenants-in-Common
conversions.

Economic Factors

The COVID-19 crisis makes the passage of TOPA even more important and timely. As
properties become distressed, some rental property owners will exit the rental market.
TOPA could present opportunities for tenants or qualified organizations to purchase and
stabilize those buildings, mitigating the potential displacement risk that was borne out in
the 2008 recession. Moreover, TOPA builds on the passage of SB 1079, which was
passed during the pandemic to give occupants of distressed properties priority in
purchasing these dwellings as they enter foreclosure.©

As-the-Bay-Arearegion-experiences-increased-The Bay Area’s economic growth and a

high demand for housing, this growth is causing housing prices to rise that-then
displaces low-income residents. As seen throughout the IFHC report, low-income
residents tend to also be minority residents. Therefore, continued growth of the region
could lead to more displacement of minority residents and increased segregation unless
certain actions are taken to encourage economic and racial/ethnic integration and
access to stable affordable units in a range of sizes. Contributing factors affecting
disproportionate housing needs include:

o Lack of private investments in specific neighborhoods
o The availability of affordable units in a range of sizes
o Displacement of residents due to economic pressures

8 https://www.berkeleyside.com/2019/12/10/theyve-been-evicted-from-a-north-berkeley-building-now-they-want-to-buy-it-with-help-
from-a-land-trust

9 https://www.fool.com/millionacres/real-estate-market/articles/8-real-estate-market-predictions-2020/

10 https://calmatters.org/commentary/my-turn/2020/10/the-affordable-housing-crisis-is-about-to-get-worse-heres-a-policy-that-will-

help-renters/

40


https://www.berkeleyside.com/2019/12/10/theyve-been-evicted-from-a-north-berkeley-building-now-they-want-to-buy-it-with-help-from-a-land-trust
https://www.berkeleyside.com/2019/12/10/theyve-been-evicted-from-a-north-berkeley-building-now-they-want-to-buy-it-with-help-from-a-land-trust
https://calmatters.org/commentary/my-turn/2020/10/the-affordable-housing-crisis-is-about-to-get-worse-heres-a-policy-that-will-help-renters/
https://calmatters.org/commentary/my-turn/2020/10/the-affordable-housing-crisis-is-about-to-get-worse-heres-a-policy-that-will-help-renters/

Page 21 of 145

Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Act (TOPA) ACTION CALENDAR
Page 7 Revised for Policy Committee March 18, 2021

o Limited supply of affordable housing within neighborhoods
o Lack of economic support for low income home ownership

The National Low-Income Housing Coalition (NLIHC) 202018 Out of Reach Study listed
the Bay Area region as one of the least affordable areas in the United States. To be
able to afford a two-bedroom market rate unit in Alameda County, a household would
need to earn $44-7949.23/-per-hour overr $93,:463102,000 annually (“housing wage”).
Comparatively, the average housing wage for California is $36.962.68/-per-hour or
$67,97477,000 annually.

Regional Policy 6, as recommended by the IFHC, is to:

Increase homeownership among low- and moderate-income households by
allocating funds for homeownership programs that support low- and moderate-
income households. This would include down payment assistance, first time
home buyer programs, Mortgage Credit Certificate, below market rate (BMR)
homeownership programs and financial literacy and homebuyer education
classes. There is also a requirement to promote the programs and any other
existing programs through marketing efforts.

National Research on Ownership

While today’s economy is strong and job growth high, there is a growing gap between
rates of economic growth and the levels of income. Wages can be growing but not at
the same rate as the economy. Many low to middle income people do not have enough
money to cover the basic needs due to rising costs — especially in housing. These lower
earnings lead to fewer assets and less wealth. For most Americans the greatest source
of their wealth is their home, but home ownership is considerably lower than in past
decades. Among African Americans, home ownership has decreased to a 60-year
low. 12

Providing ownership options for tenants is a mechanism to sustain affordability.
According to the Urban Institute’s Opportunity and Ownership Project, creating
ownership within existing rental units provides opportunities for low income renters that
will keep their housing costs stable over many years. They suggest that, rather than
providing housing subsidies at the Federal and State level for new construction,
investing in existing housing would provide many more units at an affordable level (new
construction — especially in a good economy — is increasingly expensive).3

1 http://www.acgov.org/cda/hcd/documents/Draft-Al-Combined2019-10-24.pdf

12 http://wbur.org/hereandnow/2020/02/10/job-economy-middle-class
13 https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/46626/411523-Promoting-Homeownership-among-Low-Income-
Households.PDF

41


http://www.acgov.org/cda/hcd/documents/Draft-AI-Combined2019-10-24.pdf
https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/46626/411523-Promoting-Homeownership-among-Low-Income-Households.PDF
https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/46626/411523-Promoting-Homeownership-among-Low-Income-Households.PDF

Page 22 of 145

Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Act (TOPA) ACTION CALENDAR
Page 8 Revised for Policy Committee March 18, 2021

Further academic analysis from the Joint Center for Housing Studies, Harvard
University states: “Public polices attempt to subsidize these barriers to home buying for
low-income people through tax policies, grants and other strategies. Current policies
are, at best, inefficient and inequitable, and, at worst, ineffective. A more systematic
approach would adhere to a set of operating principles including achieving scale,
focusing on moving renters to ownership, targeting subsidies to underserved
populations, creating incentives for repayment, and maximizing efficiency”.

City of Berkeley Housing Policies and TOPA Opportunity

Housing production in Berkeley has accelerated but there remains a significant unmet
need for affordable housing for low-income people. Compared to Berkeley’s 2014-2022
Association of Bay Area Governments’ ("ABAG”) Regional Housing Needs Allocation
(RHNA) goals , between January 1, 2014 and December 31, 2019, Berkeley permitted
128% of its above moderate income allocation (+120% AMI), 23% of its moderate
income allocation (81-120% AMI), 4% of its low income allocation(51 - 80% AMI), and
21% of its very low income (31 - 50% AMI) and extremely low income allocation (less
than 30% AMI).Heusi . i . while-new

Progress towards 2014-2022 RHNA: Approved Building Permits
January 1, 2014 — December 31, 2018
MOD
Building Permit Action Year 81-120% | BMR | Above | L.,
Total MOD
AMI
January 1, 2014 — December 31, 2018 0 240 1,975 2,215
RHNA 584 1,558 1,401 2,959
Remaining RHNA Capacity Requirement 584 -574
Percent of Goal Achieved 0% 141%
The current RHNA is for an 8.8-year period, from January 1, 2014 through October 31, 2022.

14 https://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/hbtl-08.pdf
15 2 ) ina_Pineline. R

42


https://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/hbtl-08.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2019/07_Jul/Documents/2019-07-16_Item_13_Annual_Housing_Pipeline_Report.aspx&sa=U&ved=2ahUKEwjkhcyg6sXnAhUKHDQIHc6cAaUQFjAAegQIBBAC&usg=AOvVaw2p_siFUHUhj28YYGd2Pk3f

Page 23 of 145

Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Act (TOPA) ACTION CALENDAR
Page 9 Revised for Policy Committee March 18, 2021

Table 5 — Status of Regional Housing Needs Allocation - All Housing Types.
Progress towards 2014-2022 RHNA: Approved Building Permits
January 1, 2014 — December 31, 2019
RHNA Allocation | 2014 | 2015 | 2016 | 2017 | 2018 | 2019 | TO! Uiristo | Pereent of Goal | - Remaining
VLI (<50% AMI) 532 15 59 16 10 1 1 112 21% 420
LI (51%-80% AMI) 442 0 17 17 4% 425
MOD (81-120% AMI) 584 5 132 137 23% 447
BMR Total 1558 20 208 16 10 1 11
Above MOD 1401 258 326 212 262 329 403 1790 128% -389
Total 2959 278 | 534 | 228 | 272 | 330 | 414

ABAG and MTC are in the process of developing Plan Bay Area 2050, the region’s
Transportation Plan and Sustainable Communities Strategy, which will identify where
growth should be concentrated and how to ensure that the Bay Area is affordable,
equitable, sustainable and resilient for the future. The Plan will be aligned with the
Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA) which will take into account the number of
affordable housing units for which each community is responsible for and the number of
units required for each income level. Preservation of existing housing is a policy
strategy already proposed in the draft Blueprint. In February 2021, the Association of
Bay Area Governments, released updated RHNA requirements to address the needs
from 2023 through 2031. The following table shows Berkeley’s allocation requirement
for this time period.

MODERATE ABOVE MODERATE
VERY LOW INCOME LOW INCOME INCOME INCOME
(<50% of Area (50-80% of Area (80-120% of Area (>120% of Area

Jurisdiction Median Income) Median Income) Median Income) Median Income) TOTAL
ALAMEDA COUNTY

Alameda 1,421 818 868 2,246 5,353
Albany 308 178 175 453 1,114
Berkeley 2,446 1,408 1,416 3,664 8,934
Dublin 1,085 625 560 1,449 3,719
Emeryville 451 259 308 797 1,815
Fremont 3,640 2,096 1,996 5,165 12,897
Hayward 1,075 617 817 2,115 4,624
Livermore 1,317 758 696 1,799 4,570
Newark 464 268 318 824 1,874
Qakland 6,511 3,750 4,457 11,533 26,251
Piedmont 163 94 92 238 587
Pleasanton 1,750 1,008 894 2,313 5,965
San Leandro 862 495 696 1,802 3,855
Unincorporated Alameda County 1,251 721 763 1,976 4,711
Union City 862 496 382 988 2,728

Housing affordability is the first objective of the Housing Element of the City of Berkeley
General Plan. Policy H-1 - Extremely Low, Very Low, Low, and Moderate-Income
Housing sets the goal of increasing housing affordable to residents with lower incomes

43



Page 24 of 145

Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Act (TOPA) ACTION CALENDAR
Page 10 Revised for Policy Committee March 18, 2021

and outlines a number of actions to achieve this goal, including encouraging incentives
for affordable housing development.6

The Berkeley City Council, in the referenced Housing Action Plan (HAP), stated support
for Non-profit housing developers and Community Land Trust acquisition of property to
stabilize rents through a Small Sites Program. Two such recent transactions, at 2321-
2323 Tenth Street and 1640 Stuart Street, have resulted in maintaining 16 units at
below-market rates. This policy also stated consideration for the creation of limited and
non-equity cooperatives affiliated with a democratic community land trust. This program
was initially funded through Measure U1 tax receipts with an option of also utilizing
Housing Trust Fund resources.

Until 1996, Berkeley condominium conversions provided the tenants a first right to
purchase their unit, as did policies in Santa Monica whose policy was more far reaching.

TOPA working group members estimate that approximately 42% of all Berkeley
residential properties would fall under TOPA. This estimate was based on an analysis
of the property type, homeowner exemption and number of units from the 2018/2019
Alameda Property Tax roll. It is not reflective of the total number of units that would
benefit from a TOPA Ordinance. (See Attachment 3).

Washington D.C. TOPA

Washington D.C. passed the Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Act (TOPA) in 1980. This
policy regulates the conversion of use, sale and transfer of rental housing. Tenants
have the first right of refusal to purchase their buildings and also can assign their rights
to third parties, such as affordable housing developers. The impact of this policy has
been immense with approximately 30% of annual multi-unit sales going through the
TOPA process. Since 2002, this policy has helped preserve over 3,500 units of
affordable housing, 2,000 of which have been preserved since 2013."” The growing
impact of TOPA is due to massive and sustained increases in DC’s Housing Production
Trust Fund, collaborative efforts to identify and harness other funding/financing, as well
as sustained support for the community based organizations that help tenants
understand and exercise their TOPA rights.

In order to fund the program, Washington DC dedicates at least $10M per year in
Housing Trust Fund (HTF) allocations directly to TOPA purchases, and usually much
more. DC’s FY2021 budget included $100 million for HPTF, a slight decrease from the
previous year due to the budget impacts of the pandemic. TOPA purchases are often
financed initially through the city’s Housing Preservation Fund, which leverages at least
$10 million of public funds annually with additional private and or philanthropic funds to

16 https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Planning and Development/Home/General Plan - Housing Element.aspx
17 https://www.dcfpi.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/9-24-13-First_Right Purchase Paper-Final.pdf

44


https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Planning_and_Development/Home/General_Plan_-_Housing_Element.aspx
https://www.dcfpi.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/9-24-13-First_Right_Purchase_Paper-Final.pdf

Page 25 of 145

Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Act (TOPA) ACTION CALENDAR
Page 11 Revised for Policy Committee March 18, 2021

provide loans.®
I : ion.
TOPA has also helped to create many limited equity cooperatives (LECs) in DC, which
currently number 4,400 units across 99 buildings.'® The DC Limited Equity Cooperative
Task Force, formed in 2018, came out with recommendations in October 2019 to
increase the number of LEC units in DC by 45% by 2025 (additional 2000 units). TOPA
will be a major vehicle to create these additional units. The task force has also identified
how to improve/expand existing policy, financing and technical assistance to support the
health of existing and future LECs. This work has been further fleshed out by a March
2020 report on LECs by the Coalition for Nonprofit Housing and Economic Development
which showed that the median share of DC LEC residents who are people of color is
75%.%0

Finally, TOPA has led to the creation of hundreds of tenant associations across
Washington, DC. Many of these tenant associations were the main leaders and
organizers in creating the DC Tenants Union in 2019.2" The Tenants Union is focused
on supporting rent control and other tenant protection policies and plans to build power
and solidarity across tenant associations from different parts of the city. (See
Attachment 4)

San Francisco COPA?

In April 2019, the San Francisco Board of Supervisors passed, by a unanimous vote,
the Community Opportunity to Purchase Act (COPA). COPA is designed to stabilize
communities by preventing displacement and preserving affordable housing and applies
to the sale or marketing of buildings with three or more legal residential units, or vacant
land on which three or more residential units may be developed “by right”.ef-any-ron-
condo-residential-building-of 3-or-mere-units: It gives qualified non-profit organizations a
right of first offer prior to the property going on the market and a right of first refusal
when the owner has a bona fide offer from a potential buyer.

Nonprofit buyers have a limited time (25 days) to work with tenants, secure financing

and present a formal offer to purchase the building.exercise-theirrights-under- COPA
and-enterinto-a-Purchase-Sale-agreement. Nonprofit buyers and their agents in San

Francicso have expressed these timeframes are insufficient, even with the additional
resource of San Francisco’s Housing Accelerator Fund which streamlines the process.

18 https://dhcd.dc.gov/service/housing-preservation-fund

19 https://dhcd.dc.gov/sites/default/files/dc/sites/dhcd/publication/attachments/Greysteel-
%20D.C.%20Multifamily%20Market%20Statistics.pdf

20 https://cnhed.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/Creating-and-Sustaining-Limited-Equity-Cooperativ